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 PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 Item 1. Financial Statements

Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Revenue    

Passenger ticket   $ 458,490   $ 358,928  
Onboard and other    205,538    168,703  

  

Total revenue    664,028    527,631  
  

Cruise operating expense    
Commissions, transportation and other    116,810    94,579  
Onboard and other    47,924    42,371  
Payroll and related    99,066    74,039  
Fuel    79,040    72,498  
Food    37,683    29,962  
Other    65,387    49,240  

  

Total cruise operating expense    445,910    362,689  
  

Other operating expense    
Marketing, general and administrative    83,389    85,206  
Depreciation and amortization    61,640    48,748  

  

Total other operating expense    145,029    133,954  
  

Operating income    73,089    30,988  
  

Non-operating income (expense)    
Interest expense, net    (31,172)   (127,656) 
Other income    388    1,364  

  

Total non-operating income (expense)    (30,784)   (126,292) 
  

Net income (loss) before income taxes    42,305    (95,304) 
Income tax benefit (expense)    9,387    (2,196) 

  

Net income (loss)    51,692    (97,500) 
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest    425    (1,105) 

  

Net income (loss) attributable to Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.   $ 51,267   $ (96,395) 
  

Weighted-average shares outstanding    
Basic    205,163,256    198,350,433  

  

Diluted    211,013,814    198,350,433  
  

Earnings (loss) per share    
Basic   $ 0.25   $ (0.49) 

  

Diluted   $ 0.24   $ (0.49) 
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Net income (loss)   $ 51,692   $ (97,500) 

  

Other comprehensive loss:    
Shipboard Retirement Plan    94    117  
Cash flow hedges:    

Net unrealized loss    (15,356)   (19,696) 
Amount realized and reclassified into earnings    153    (1,836) 

  

Total other comprehensive loss    (15,109)   (21,415) 
  

Total comprehensive income (loss)    36,583    (118,915) 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest    288    (1,595) 

  

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.   $ 36,295   $(117,320) 
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share data)

 

   
March 31,

2014   
December 31,

2013  
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 64,760   $ 56,467  
Accounts receivable, net    18,000    18,260  
Inventories    48,106    43,715  
Prepaid expenses and other assets    56,359    64,482  

  

Total current assets    187,225    182,924  
Property and equipment, net    6,327,263    5,647,670  
Goodwill and tradenames    611,330    611,330  
Other long-term assets    193,081    209,054  

  

Total assets   $7,318,899   $ 6,650,978  
  

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities:    

Current portion of long-term debt   $ 363,697   $ 286,575  
Accounts payable    79,590    86,788  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    244,884    253,752  
Due to Affiliate    36,783    36,544  
Advance ticket sales    531,936    411,829  

  

Total current liabilities    1,256,890    1,075,488  
Long-term debt    3,290,493    2,841,214  
Due to Affiliate    55,269    55,128  
Other long-term liabilities    46,282    47,882  

  

Total liabilities    4,648,934    4,019,712  
  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)    
Shareholders’ equity:    

Ordinary shares, $.001 par value; 490,000,000 shares authorized; 205,236,705 and 205,160,340 shares issued and outstanding at March 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively    205    205  

Additional paid-in capital    2,812,641    2,822,864  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    (31,662)   (16,690) 
Retained earnings (deficit)    (146,204)   (197,471) 

  

Total shareholders’ equity controlling interest    2,634,980    2,608,908  
Non-controlling interest    34,985    22,358  

  

Total shareholders’ equity    2,669,965    2,631,266  
  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $7,318,899   $ 6,650,978  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Cash flows from operating activities    
Net income (loss)   $ 51,692   $ (97,500) 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization expense    69,708    55,480  
Loss (gain) on derivatives    (75)   112  
Deferred income taxes, net    1,027    2,043  
Write-off of deferred financing fees    —     14,042  
Share-based compensation expense    1,835    18,753  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Accounts receivable, net    260    1,675  
Inventories    (4,391)   (2,610) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets    (6,476)   488  
Accounts payable    (7,198)   (11,427) 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    3,432    (8,307) 
Advance ticket sales    118,320    109,346  

  

Net cash provided by operating activities    228,134    82,095  
  

Cash flows from investing activities    
Additions to property and equipment    (746,310)   (85,152) 

  

Net cash used in investing activities    (746,310)   (85,152) 
  

Cash flows from financing activities    
Repayments of long-term debt    (258,125)   (1,093,009) 
Repayments to Affiliate    —     (79,651)
Proceeds from long-term debt    784,451    744,525  
Proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares, net    —     473,017  
Proceeds from the exercise of share options    340   —   
Deferred financing fees and other    (197)   (6,124) 

  

Net cash provided by financing activities    526,469    38,758  
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    8,293    35,701  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    56,467    45,500  

  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 64,760   $ 81,201  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

 

   
Ordinary

Shares    

Additional
Paid-in
Capital   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)   

Non-controlling
Interest   

Total
Shareholders’

Equity  
Balance, December 31, 2012   $ 25    $2,327,097   $ (17,619)  $(299,185)  $ 8,466   $ 2,018,784  

Share-based compensation    —      28,734    —     —     19    28,753  
Transactions with Affiliates, net    —      (51)   —     —     —     (51) 
Corporate Reorganization    —      (20,176)   —     —     20,176    —   
IPO proceeds, net    179     472,838    —     —     —     473,017  
Other comprehensive loss    —      —     (20,925)   —     (490)   (21,415) 
Net loss    —      —     —     (96,395)   (1,105)   (97,500) 
Transfers to non-controlling interest    —      (1,807)   —     —     1,807    —   

    

Balance, March 31, 2013   $ 204    $2,806,635   $ (38,544)  $(395,580)  $ 28,873   $ 2,401,588  
    

Balance, December 31, 2013   $ 205    $2,822,864   $ (16,690)  $(197,471)  $ 22,358   $ 2,631,266  

Share-based compensation    —      1,835    —     —     —     1,835  
Transactions with Affiliates, net    —      (59)   —     —     —     (59) 
Proceeds from the exercise of share options    —      340   —     —     —     340 
Other comprehensive loss    —      —     (14,972)   —     (137)   (15,109)
Net income    —      —     —     51,267   425   51,692  
Transfers to non-controlling interest    —      (12,339)   —     —     12,339   —   

    

Balance, March 31, 2014   $ 205    $2,812,641   $ (31,662)  $(146,204)  $ 34,985   $ 2,669,965  
    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this report to (i) the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us” and “NCLH” refer to Norwegian Cruise Line
Holdings Ltd., and/or its subsidiaries, (ii) “NCLC” refers to NCL Corporation Ltd. and/or its subsidiaries, (iii) “Norwegian Cruise Line” or “Norwegian” refers to the
Norwegian Cruise Line brand and its predecessors, (iv) “Apollo” refers to Apollo Global Management, LLC and its subsidiaries and the “Apollo Funds” refers to one or more
of AIF VI NCL (AIV), L.P., AIF VI NCL (AIV II), L.P., AIF VI NCL (AIV III), L.P., AIF VI NCL (AIV IV), L.P., AAA Guarantor-Co-Invest VI (B), L.P., Apollo Overseas
Partners (Delaware) VI, L.P., Apollo Overseas Partners (Delaware 892) VI, L.P., Apollo Overseas Partners VI, L.P. and Apollo Overseas Partners (Germany) VI, L.P.,
(v) “TPG Global” refers to TPG Global, LLC, “TPG” refers to TPG Global and its affiliates and the “TPG Viking Funds” refers to one or more of TPG Viking, L.P., TPG
Viking AIV I, L.P., TPG Viking AIV II, L.P., and TPG Viking AIV III, L.P. and/or certain other affiliated investment funds, each an affiliate of TPG, (vi) “Genting HK” refers
to Genting Hong Kong Limited and/or its affiliates (formerly Star Cruises Limited and/or its affiliates) (Genting HK owns NCLH’s ordinary shares indirectly through Star
NCLC Holdings Ltd. (“Star NCLC”)), and (vii) “Affiliate(s)” or “Sponsor(s)” refers to Genting HK, the Apollo Funds and/or the TPG Viking Funds. References to the “U.S.”
are to the United States of America, “dollars” or “$” are to U.S. dollars and “euros” or “€” are to the official currency of the Eurozone.

 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are unaudited and, in our opinion, contain all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the results for
the periods presented.

Our operations are seasonal and results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire fiscal year. Historically, demand for cruises has been
strongest during the summer months. The interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2013, which are included in our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

A reconciliation between basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share was as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):
 

   Three Months Ended March 31,  
   2014    2013  
Net income (loss) attributable to Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.   $ 51,267    $ (96,395) 

    

Net income (loss)   $ 51,692    $ (97,500) 
    

Basic weighted-average shares outstanding    205,163,256     198,350,433  
Dilutive effect of awards    5,850,558     —    

    

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding    211,013,814     198,350,433  
    

Basic earnings (loss) per share   $ 0.25    $ (0.49) 
    

Diluted earnings (loss) per share   $ 0.24    $ (0.49) 
    

Diluted loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2013 did not include 6,174,132 shares because the effect of including them would have been antidilutive.

Revenue and Expense Recognition

Revenue and expense includes taxes assessed by governmental authorities that are directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer. The
amounts included in revenue and expense on a gross basis were $37.9 million and $31.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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2. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was as follows (in thousands):
 

   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   

Change
Related to
Cash Flow

Hedges   

Change
Related to
Shipboard
Retirement

Plan  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at beginning of period   $ (16,690)  $ (10,532)  $ (6,158) 
Current period other comprehensive loss before reclassifications    (15,217)   (15,217)   —    
Amounts reclassified    245    152(1)   93(2) 

  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at end of period   $ (31,662)  $ (25,597)(3)  $ (6,065) 
  

 
(1) We refer you to Note 6— “Fair Value Measurements and Derivatives” for the affected line items in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
(2) Amortization of prior-service cost and actuarial loss reclassified to payroll and related expense.
(3) Includes $3.0 million of income expected to be reclassified into earnings in the next 12 months.

 
3. Property and Equipment, Net

Norwegian Getaway was delivered in January 2014.

 
4. Related Party Disclosures

In March 2014, the Selling Shareholders sold 15,000,000 ordinary shares of NCLH in the Secondary Offering. We did not receive any proceeds from this offering. As of
March 31, 2014, the relative ownership percentages of NCLH’s ordinary shares were as follows: Genting HK (27.7%), the Apollo Funds (19.9%), the TPG Viking Funds
(7.8%), and public shareholders (44.6%). As of March 31, 2014, NCLH had a 97.8% economic interest in NCLC.

 
5. Income Tax Benefit (Expense)

NCLH is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The income tax benefit in 2014 primarily related to a change in our corporate entity structure which was
completed in 2013. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the tax provision reflected an interest expense deduction based on a method supported by the information available
at such time. During the three months ended March 31, 2014, we received additional information which allowed us to elect another acceptable tax method, resulting in a tax
benefit of $11.1 million.

 
6. Fair Value Measurements and Derivatives

Fair value is defined as the price at which an orderly transaction to sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date
under current market conditions (that is, an exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability).

Fair Value Hierarchy

The following hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value should maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the
most observable inputs be used when available:
 
Level 1   Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement dates.

Level 2   Significant other observable inputs that are used by market participants in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained from independent sources.

Level 3   Significant unobservable inputs we believe market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available.
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Derivatives

We are exposed to market risk attributable to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and fuel prices. We attempt to minimize these risks through a
combination of our normal operating and financing activities and through the use of derivatives. We assess whether derivatives used in hedging transactions are “highly
effective” in offsetting changes in the cash flow of our hedged forecasted transactions. We use regression analysis for this hedge relationship and high effectiveness is achieved
when a statistically valid relationship reflects a high degree of offset and correlation between the fair values of the derivative and the hedged forecasted transaction. Cash flows
from the derivatives are classified in the same category as the cash flows from the underlying hedged transaction. The determination of ineffectiveness is based on the amount of
dollar offset between the cumulative change in fair value of the derivative and the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged transaction at the end of the reporting period. If
it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, or if the hedged forecasted transaction is no longer probable of occurring, then the amount recognized in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is released to earnings. In addition, the ineffective portion of our highly effective hedges is recognized in earnings immediately
and reported in other income in our consolidated statements of operations. There are no amounts excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and there are no credit-
risk-related contingent features in our derivative agreements.

We monitor concentrations of credit risk associated with financial and other institutions with which we conduct significant business. Credit risk, including but not limited to
counterparty non-performance under derivatives and our revolving credit facility, is not considered significant, as we primarily conduct business with large, well-established
financial institutions that we have established relationships with and that have credit risks acceptable to us or the credit risk is spread out among a large number of creditors. We
do not anticipate non-performance by any of our significant counterparties.

The following table sets forth our derivatives measured at fair value and discloses the balance sheet location (in thousands):
 

 

  

Balance Sheet location

  Asset    Liability  

    
March 31,

2014    
December 31,

2013    
March 31,

2014    
December 31,

2013  
Fuel swaps designated as hedging instruments           

  Prepaid expenses and other assets   $ 1,695    $ 5,024    $ 27    $ 666  

  Other long-term assets    252     6,869     98     9  

  Accrued expenses and other liabilities    1,110     —      1,646     —   

  Other long-term liabilities    809     —      1,353     —   
Fuel collars designated as hedging instruments           

  Prepaid expenses and other assets    —      452     —      195  

  Accrued expenses and other liabilities    152     —      110     —   

Fuel options not designated as hedging instruments           
  Prepaid expenses and other assets    —      —      —      195  
  Accrued expenses and other liabilities    —      —      110     —   

Foreign currency options designated as hedging
instruments           

  Accrued expenses and other liabilities    —      —      —      9,815  
Foreign currency forward contracts designated as

hedging instruments           
  Prepaid expenses and other assets    —      2,624     —      —   

  Accrued expenses and other liabilities    —      —      —      6,582  
Foreign currency collar designated as a hedging

instrument           
  Prepaid expenses and other assets    —      12,502     —      —   

Interest rate swaps designated as hedging
instruments           

  Accrued expenses and other liabilities    —      —      2,590     1,707  
  Other long-term liabilities    —      —      1,724     1,374  
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The fair values of swap and forward contracts are determined based on inputs that are readily available in public markets or can be derived from information available in
publicly quoted markets. The Company determines the value of options and collars utilizing an option pricing model based on inputs that are either readily available in public
markets or can be derived from information available in publicly quoted markets. The option pricing model used by the Company is an industry standard model for valuing
options and is used by the broker/dealer community. The inputs to this option pricing model are the option strike price, underlying price, risk free rate of interest, time to
expiration, and volatility. The fair value of option contracts considers both the intrinsic value and any remaining time value associated with those derivatives that have not yet
settled. The Company also considers counterparty credit risk and its own credit risk in its determination of all estimated fair values. Our derivatives and financial instruments
were categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, and we had no derivatives or financial instruments categorized as Level 1 or Level 3.

Our derivative contracts include rights of offset with our counterparties. We have elected to net certain assets and liabilities within counterparties. We are not required to post
cash collateral related to our derivative instruments. The following table discloses the amounts recognized within assets and liabilities (in thousands):
 

March 31, 2014   Gross Amounts   

Gross
Amounts

Offset   

Total
Net

Amounts   

Gross
Amounts Not

Offset   Net Amounts 
Assets   $ 1,947    $ (125)  $ 1,822    $ —    $ 1,822  
Liabilities    7,533     (2,071)   5,462     (4,314)   1,148  

December 31, 2013   Gross Amounts   

Gross
Amounts

Offset   

Total
Net

Amounts   

Gross
Amounts Not

Offset   Net Amounts 
Assets   $ 27,471    $ (1,065)  $26,406    $ (15,126)  $ 11,280  
Liabilities    19,478     —     19,478     (19,478)   —   

Fuel Swaps

As of March 31, 2014, we had fuel swaps maturing through December 31, 2016 which are used to mitigate the financial impact of volatility in fuel prices pertaining to
approximately 624,000 metric tons of our projected fuel purchases. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the fuel swaps which were designated as cash flow
hedges were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Gain (loss) recognized in other comprehensive loss – effective portion   $(9,771)  $ 4,706  
Gain (loss) recognized in other income – ineffective portion    (416)   221  
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into fuel expense    (705)   (2,263) 

Fuel Collars and Options

As of March 31, 2014, we had fuel collars and options maturing through December 31, 2014 which are used to mitigate the financial impact of volatility in fuel prices pertaining
to approximately 26,000 metric tons of our projected fuel purchases. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the fuel collars which were designated as cash flow
hedges were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Loss recognized in other comprehensive loss – effective portion   $ (324)  $ (35) 
Gain recognized in other income – ineffective portion    108    8  
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into fuel expense    370    427  
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The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the fuel options which were not designated as hedging instruments were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014    2013  
Gain recognized in other income   $ 85    $ 856  

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

We had foreign currency forward contracts that matured through January 2014 which were used to mitigate the financial impact of volatility in foreign currency exchange rates
related to our ship construction contracts denominated in euros. The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the foreign currency forward contracts which were
designated as cash flow hedges were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Loss recognized in other comprehensive loss – effective portion   $(1,076)  $ (16,633) 
Gain (loss) recognized in other income – ineffective portion    (1)   68  
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into depreciation and

amortization expense    (53)   —    

The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the foreign currency forward contracts which were not designated as hedging instruments were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014    2013  
Gain recognized in other income   $ —      $ 20  

Foreign Currency Options

We had foreign currency options that matured through January 2014, which consisted of call options with deferred premiums. These options were used to mitigate the financial
impact of volatility in foreign currency exchange rates related to our ship construction contracts denominated in euros. If the spot rate at the date the ships were delivered was
less than the strike price under these option contracts, we would have paid the deferred premium and would not exercise the foreign currency options.

The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the foreign currency options which were designated as cash flow hedges were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Loss recognized in other comprehensive loss – effective portion   $ (1,157)  $ (4,012) 
Loss recognized in other income – ineffective portion    (241)   (298) 
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into depreciation and

amortization expense    279    —   
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Foreign Currency Collar

We had a foreign currency collar that matured in January 2014. The collar was used to mitigate the volatility of foreign currency exchange rates related to our ship construction
contracts denominated in euros.

The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the foreign currency collar which was designated as a cash flow hedge was as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Loss recognized in other comprehensive income – effective portion   $ (1,588)  $ (3,722) 
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into depreciation and

amortization expense    (60)   —   

Interest Rate Swaps

As of March 31, 2014, we had interest rate swap agreements to modify our exposure to interest rate movements and to manage our interest expense. The notional amount of
outstanding debt associated with the interest rate swap agreements was $699.4 million.

The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the interest rates swaps which were designated as cash flow hedges were as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Loss recognized in other comprehensive loss – effective portion   $ (1,440)  $ —    
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into interest expense, net    322    —   

Long-Term Debt

As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the fair value of our long-term debt, including the current portion, was $3,776.7 million and $3,146.4 million, which was $122.5
million and $18.6 million higher, respectively, than the carrying values. The difference between the fair value and carrying value of our long-term debt is due to our fixed and
variable rate debt obligations carrying interest rates that are above or below market rates at the measurement dates. The fair value of our long-term debt was calculated based on
estimated rates for the same or similar instruments with similar terms and remaining maturities. The calculation of the fair value of our long-term debt is considered a Level 2
input.

Other

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets of all financial assets and liabilities other than our long-term debt approximate fair value.

 
7. Commitments and Contingencies

Ship Construction Contracts

We have two ships on order with Meyer Werft for delivery in the fourth quarter of 2015 and the first quarter of 2017. These ships, Norwegian Escape and Norwegian Bliss, will
be the largest in our fleet at approximately 163,000 Gross Tons with 4,200 Berths each and will be similar in design and innovation to our Breakaway Class Ships. The
combined contract cost of these two ships is approximately €1.4 billion, or $1.9 billion based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of March 31, 2014. We have export credit
financing in place that provides financing for 80% of their contract prices.

In connection with the contracts to build the ships, we do not anticipate any contractual breaches or cancellation to occur. However, if any would occur, it could result in, among
other things, the forfeiture of prior deposits or payments made by us and potential claims and impairment losses which may materially impact our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
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Litigation

In July 2009, a class action complaint was filed against NCL (Bahamas) Ltd. in the United States District Court, Southern District of Florida, on behalf of a purported class of
crew members alleging inappropriate deductions of their wages pursuant to the Seaman’s Wage Act and wrongful termination resulting in a loss of retirement benefits. In
December 2010, the Court denied the plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification. In February 2011, the plaintiffs filed a Motion for Reconsideration as to the Court’s Order on
Class Certification which was denied. The Court tried six individual plaintiffs’ claims, and in September 2012 awarded wages aggregating approximately $100,000 to such
plaintiffs. In October 2013, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the Court’s rulings as to the denial of Class Certification and the trial verdict.
The Plaintiffs filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court seeking review of the appellate court’s decision which was denied in March 2014. We
are vigorously defending this action and are not able at this time to estimate the impact of these proceedings.

In May 2011, a class action complaint was filed against NCL (Bahamas) Ltd. in the United States District Court, Southern District of Florida, on behalf of a purported class of
crew members alleging inappropriate deductions of their wages pursuant to the Seaman’s Wage Act and breach of contract. In July 2012, this action was stayed by the Court
pending the outcome of the litigation commenced with the class action complaint filed in July 2009. We are vigorously defending this action and are not able at this time to
estimate the impact of these proceedings.

In the normal course of our business, various other claims and lawsuits have been filed or are pending against us. Most of these claims and lawsuits are covered by insurance
and, accordingly, the maximum amount of our liability is typically limited to our deductible amount. Nonetheless, the ultimate outcome of these claims and lawsuits that are not
covered by insurance cannot be determined at this time. We have evaluated our overall exposure with respect to all of our threatened and pending litigation and, to the extent
required, we have accrued amounts for all estimable probable losses associated with our deemed exposure. We are currently unable to estimate any other reasonably possible
contingent losses beyond those accrued, as discovery is not complete nor is adequate information available to estimate such range of loss or potential recovery. We intend to
vigorously defend our legal position on all claims and, to the extent necessary, seek recovery.
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 Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this report constitute forward-looking statements intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical facts in this report, including, without limitation, those regarding our business strategy, financial
position, results of operations, plans, prospects and objectives of management for future operations (including development plans and objectives relating to our activities), are
forward-looking statements. Many, but not all of these statements can be found by looking for words like “expect,” “anticipate,” “goal,” “project,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,”
“will,” “may,” “forecast,” “estimate,” “intend” and “future” and for similar words. Forward-looking statements do not guarantee future performance and may involve risks,
uncertainties and other factors which could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from the future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied in those forward-looking statements. Examples of these risks, uncertainties and other factors include, but are not limited to:
 

 •  the adverse impact of general economic conditions and related factors such as high levels of unemployment and underemployment, fuel price increases, declines in
the securities and real estate markets, and perceptions of these conditions that decrease the level of disposable income of consumers or consumer confidence;

 

 •  changes in cruise capacity, as well as capacity changes in the overall vacation industry;
 

 •  intense competition from other cruise companies as well as non-cruise vacation alternatives which could affect our ability to compete effectively;
 

 •  negative publicity surrounding the cruise industry;
 

 •  changes in fuel prices and/or other cruise operating costs;
 

 •  the risks associated with operating internationally, including changes in interest rates and/or foreign currency rates;
 

 •  the continued borrowing availability under our credit facilities and compliance with our financial covenants;
 

 •  our substantial indebtedness, including the inability to generate the necessary amount of cash to service our existing debt, and to repay our credit facilities;
 

 •  our ability to incur significantly more debt despite our substantial existing indebtedness;
 

 
•  the impact of volatility and disruptions in the global credit and financial markets which may adversely affect our ability to borrow and could increase our

counterparty credit risks, including those under our credit facilities, derivatives, contingent obligations, insurance contracts and new ship progress payment
guarantees;

 

 •  adverse events impacting the security of travel such as terrorist acts, acts of piracy, armed conflict and other international events;
 

 •  the impact of any future changes relating to how external distribution channels sell and market our cruises;
 

 •  the impact of any future increases in the price of, or major changes or reduction in, commercial airline services;
 

 •  the impact of delays, costs and other factors resulting from emergency ship repairs as well as scheduled repairs, maintenance and refurbishment of our ships;
 

 •  the delivery schedules and estimated costs of new ships on terms that are favorable or consistent with our expectations;
 

 •  the impact of problems encountered at shipyards, as well as, any potential claim, impairment loss, cancellation or breach of contract in connection with our
contracts with shipyards;

 

 •  the impact of the spread of epidemics and viral outbreaks;
 

 •  the uncertain political environment in countries where we operate;
 

 •  the impact of weather and natural disasters;
 

 •  accidents and other incidents affecting the health, safety, security and vacation satisfaction of guests or causing damage to ships, which could cause the modification
of itineraries or cancellation of a cruise or series of cruises;

 

 •  the impact of pending or threatened litigation and investigations;
 

 •  our ability to obtain insurance coverage on terms that are favorable or consistent with our expectations;
 

 •  the impact of any breaches in data security or other disturbances to our information technology and other networks;
 

 •  the impact of amendments to our collective bargaining agreements for crew members and other employee relation issues;
 

 •  the continued availability of attractive port destinations;
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 •  our ability to attract and retain key personnel and qualified shipboard crew, maintain good relations with employee unions, maintain or renegotiate our collective
bargaining agreements on favorable terms and prevent any disruptions in work;

 

 •  changes involving the tax, environmental, health, safety, security and other regulatory regimes in which we operate;
 

 •  increases in our future fuel costs related to implementing IMO regulations, which require the use of higher priced low sulfur fuels in certain cruising areas;
 

 •  the implementation of regulations in the U.S. requiring U.S. citizens to obtain passports for travel to additional foreign destinations; and
 

 •  other factors set forth under “Risk Factors” in our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The above examples are not exhaustive and new risks emerge from time to time. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Such forward-looking statements are based on our current beliefs, assumptions,
expectations, estimates and projections regarding our present and future business strategies and the environment in which we will operate in the future. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this report. We expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking
statement contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change of events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement was
based.

The interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, which
are included in our most recently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Terminology

For further information about our non-GAAP financial measures including a reconciliation to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, we refer you to “Results
of Operations.”

Unless otherwise indicated in this report, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:
 

 •  Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA adjusted for other income and other supplemental adjustments.
 

 •  Adjusted EPS. Adjusted Net Income divided by the number of dilutive weighted-average shares.
 

 •  Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel. Net Cruise Cost less fuel expense adjusted for supplemental adjustments.
 

 •  Adjusted Net Income. Net income (loss) adjusted for supplemental adjustments.
 

 •  Berths. Double occupancy capacity per stateroom (single occupancy per studio stateroom) even though many staterooms can accommodate three or more
passengers.

 

 •  Breakaway Class Ships. Norwegian Breakaway delivered in April 2013 and Norwegian Getaway delivered in January 2014.
 

 •  Breakaway Two Credit Facility. €529.8 million Breakaway Two Credit Agreement, dated as of November 18, 2010, by and among Breakaway Two, Ltd. and a
syndicate of international banks and related Guarantee by NCL Corporation Ltd., as amended.

 

 •  Business Enhancement Capital Expenditures. Capital expenditures other than those related to new ship construction and ROI Capital Expenditures.
 

 •  Capacity Days. Available Berths multiplied by the number of cruise days for the period.
 

 •  Charter. The hire of a ship for a specified period of time.
 

 •  Constant Currency. A calculation whereby foreign currency-denominated revenue and expenses in a period are converted at the U.S. dollar exchange rate of a
comparable period in order to eliminate the effects of the foreign exchange fluctuations.

 

 •  Dry-dock. A process whereby a ship is positioned in a large basin where all of the fresh/sea water is pumped out in order to carry out cleaning and repairs of those
parts of a ship which are below the water line.

 

 •  EBITDA. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.
 

 •  GAAP. Generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.
 

 •  Gross Cruise Cost. The sum of total cruise operating expense and marketing, general and administrative expense.
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 •  Gross Tons. A unit of enclosed passenger space on a cruise ship, such that one gross ton = 100 cubic feet or 2.831 cubic meters.
 

 •  Gross Yield. Total revenue per Capacity Day.
 

 •  IMO. International Maritime Organization, a United Nations agency that sets international standards for shipping.
 

 •  Initial Public Offering ( or “IPO”). The initial public offering of 27,058,824 ordinary shares, par value $.001 per share, of NCLH, which was consummated on
January 24, 2013.

 

 •  Net Cruise Cost. Gross Cruise Cost less commissions, transportation and other expense and onboard and other expense.
 

 •  Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel. Net Cruise Cost less fuel expense.
 

 •  Net Revenue. Total revenue less commissions, transportation and other expense and onboard and other expense.
 

 •  Net Yield. Net Revenue per Capacity Day.
 

 •  Occupancy Percentage. The ratio of Passenger Cruise Days to Capacity Days. A percentage in excess of 100% indicates that three or more passengers occupied
some staterooms.

 

 •  Passenger Cruise Days. The number of passengers carried for the period, multiplied by the number of days in their respective cruises.
 

 •  Revolving Loan Facility. $625.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility maturing on May 24, 2018.
 

 •  ROI Capital Expenditures. Comprised of project-based capital expenditures which have a quantified return on investment.
 

 •  Secondary Offering. Public offering in March 2014 resulting in the sale of 15,000,000 ordinary shares of NCLH by the Selling Shareholders.
 

 •  Selling Shareholders. The Apollo Funds and Star NCLC Holdings Ltd. (“Star NCLC”). Genting HK owns NCLH’s ordinary shares indirectly through Star NCLC,
its wholly-owned subsidiary.

 

 •  Shipboard Retirement Plan. An unfunded defined benefit pension plan for certain crew members which computes benefits based on years of service, subject to
certain requirements.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use certain non-GAAP financial measures, such as Net Revenue, Net Yield, Net Cruise Cost, Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel and Adjusted EBITDA to enable us
to analyze our performance. See “Terminology” for the definitions of these non-GAAP financial measures. We utilize Net Revenue and Net Yield to manage our business on a
day-to-day basis and believe that they are the most relevant measures of our revenue performance because they reflect the revenue earned by us net of significant variable costs.
In measuring our ability to control costs in a manner that positively impacts net income, we believe changes in Net Cruise Cost and Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel to
be the most relevant indicators of our performance.

As our business includes the sourcing of passengers and deployment of vessels outside of North America, a portion of our revenue and expenses are denominated in foreign
currencies, particularly euro and British Pound sterling, which are subject to fluctuations in currency exchange rates versus our reporting currency, the U.S. dollar. In order to
monitor results excluding these fluctuations, we calculate certain non-GAAP measures on a Constant Currency basis whereby current period revenue and expenses denominated
in foreign currencies are converted to U.S. dollars using currency exchange rates of the comparable period. We believe that presenting these non-GAAP measures on both a
reported and Constant Currency basis is useful in providing a more comprehensive view of trends in our business.

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is appropriate as a supplemental financial measure as it is used by management to assess operating performance. We believe that Adjusted
EBITDA is a useful measure in determining the Company’s performance as it reflects certain operating drivers of the Company’s business, such as sales growth, operating costs,
marketing, general and administrative expense and other operating income and expense. Adjusted EBITDA is not a defined term under GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA is not
intended to be a measure of liquidity or cash flows from operations or measures comparable to net income as it does not take into account certain requirements such as capital
expenditures and related depreciation, principal and interest payments and tax payments and it includes other supplemental adjustments.

In addition, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS are supplemental financial measures used to demonstrate GAAP net income and earnings per share excluding certain
charges. We use Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS as key performance measures of our earnings performance, and we believe that both management and investors benefit
from referring to these non-GAAP financial measures in assessing our performance and when planning, forecasting, and analyzing future periods. These non-GAAP financial
measures also facilitate management’s internal comparison to our historical performance. These charges vary from period to period; accordingly, our presentation of Adjusted
Net Income and Adjusted EPS may not be indicative of future adjustments or results.

You are encouraged to evaluate each adjustment used in calculating our non-GAAP financial measures and the reasons we consider our non-GAAP financial measures
appropriate for supplemental analysis. In evaluating our non-GAAP financial measures, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses similar to the adjustments
in our presentation. Our non-GAAP financial measures have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider these measures in isolation or as a substitute for
analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Our presentation of our non-GAAP financial measures should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be
unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. Our non-GAAP financial measures may not be comparable to other companies. Please see a historical reconciliation of these
measures to the most comparable GAAP measure presented in our consolidated financial statements below in the “Results of Operations” section.

Financial Presentation

Revenue from our cruise and cruise-related activities are categorized by us as “passenger ticket revenue” and “onboard and other revenue.” Passenger ticket revenue and
onboard and other revenue vary according to the size of the ship in operation, the length of cruises operated and the markets in which the ship operates. Our revenue is seasonal
based on demand for cruises, which has historically been strongest during the summer months.

Passenger ticket revenue primarily consists of revenue for accommodations, meals in certain restaurants on the ship, certain onboard entertainment, and includes revenue for
service charges and air and land transportation to and from the ship to the extent passengers purchase these items from us.

Onboard and other revenue primarily consists of revenue from gaming, beverage sales, shore excursions, specialty dining, retail sales, spa services and photo. We record
onboard revenue from onboard activities we perform directly or that are performed by independent concessionaires, from which we receive a share of their revenue.
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Our cruise operating expense is classified as follows:
 

 •  Commissions, transportation and other primarily consists of direct costs associated with passenger ticket revenue. These costs include travel agent commissions, air
and land transportation expenses, related credit card fees, costs associated with service charges and certain port expenses.

 

 •  Onboard and other primarily consists of direct costs that are incurred in connection with onboard and other revenue. These include costs incurred in connection with
shore excursions, beverage sales and gaming.

 

 •  Payroll and related consists of the cost of wages and benefits for shipboard employees.
 

 •  Fuel includes fuel costs, the impact of certain fuel hedges and fuel delivery costs.
 

 •  Food consists of food costs for passengers and crew.
 

 •  Other consists of repairs and maintenance (including Dry-dock costs), ship insurance and other ship expenses.

Critical Accounting Policies

For a discussion of our critical accounting policies and estimates, see “Critical Accounting Policies” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013 under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” We have made no significant changes to our
critical accounting policies and estimates from those described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Executive Quarterly Overview

Norwegian Getaway was delivered in January 2014. This ship is approximately 144,000 Gross Tons with 4,000 Berths.

In March 2014, the Selling Shareholders sold 15,000,000 ordinary shares of NCLH in the Secondary Offering. We did not receive any proceeds from this offering.

For the first quarter of 2014, we reported Adjusted Net Income of $49.6 million and Adjusted EPS of $0.23, which excludes $2.7 million of expenses related to non-cash
compensation, $1.9 million of expenses incurred from the Secondary Offering and $6.7 million of a tax benefit. On a GAAP basis, net income attributable to Norwegian Cruise
Line Holdings Ltd. and diluted earnings per share were $51.3 million and $0.24, respectively.

Three months ended March 31, 2014 (“2014”) compared to the three months ended March 31, 2013 (“2013”)

Total revenue increased 25.9% to $664.0 million in 2014 compared to $527.6 million in 2013. Net Revenue in 2014 increased 27.8% to $499.3 million from $390.7 million in
2013 due to an increase in Capacity Days of 23.2% and Net Yield of 3.8%.The increase in Capacity Days was primarily due to the delivery of Norwegian Breakaway in April
2013 and Norwegian Getaway in January 2014.

Operating income was $73.1 million in 2014 compared to $31.0 million in 2013 and Adjusted EBITDA (we refer you to our “Results of Operations” below for a calculation of
Adjusted EBITDA) improved 39.6% for the same period.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth operating data as a percentage of total revenue:
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  

Revenue    
Passenger ticket    69.0%   68.0% 
Onboard and other    31.0%   32.0% 

  

Total revenue    100.0%   100.0% 
  

Cruise operating expense    
Commissions, transportation and other    17.6%   17.9% 
Onboard and other    7.2%   8.0% 
Payroll and related    14.9%   14.0% 
Fuel    11.9%   13.7% 
Food    5.8%   5.7% 
Other    9.8%   9.4% 

  

Total cruise operating expense    67.2%   68.7% 
  

Other operating expense    
Marketing, general and administrative    12.5%   16.2% 
Depreciation and amortization    9.3%   9.2% 

  

Total other operating expense    21.8%   25.4% 
  

Operating income    11.0%   5.9% 
  

Non-operating income (expense)    
Interest expense, net    (4.7)%   (24.2)% 
Other income    0.1%   0.2% 

  

Total non-operating income (expense)    (4.6)%   (24.0)% 
  

Net income (loss) before income taxes    6.4%   (18.1)% 
Income tax benefit (expense)    1.4%   (0.4)% 

  

Net income (loss)    7.8%   (18.5)% 
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest    0.1%   (0.2)% 

  

Net income (loss) attributable to Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.    7.7%   (18.3)% 
  

The following table sets forth selected statistical information:
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Passengers carried    507,272    368,010  
Passenger Cruise Days    3,075,402    2,528,192  
Capacity Days    2,895,984    2,351,299  
Occupancy Percentage    106.2%   107.5% 
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Net Revenue, Gross Yield and Net Yield were calculated as follows (in thousands, except Capacity Days and Yield data):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

   2014    

2014
Constant
Currency    2013  

Passenger ticket revenue   $ 458,490    $ 459,348    $ 358,928  
Onboard and other revenue    205,538     205,602     168,703  

      

Total revenue    664,028     664,950     527,631  
Less:       
Commissions, transportation and other expense    116,810     117,034     94,579  
Onboard and other expense    47,924     47,988     42,371  

      

Net Revenue   $ 499,294    $ 499,928    $ 390,681  
      

Capacity Days    2,895,984     2,895,984     2,351,299  
Gross Yield   $ 229.29    $ 229.61    $ 224.40  
Net Yield   $ 172.41    $ 172.63    $ 166.16  

Gross Cruise Cost, Net Cruise Cost, Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel and Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel were calculated as follows (in thousands, except Capacity
Days and per Capacity Day data):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  

   2014    

2014
Constant
Currency    2013  

Total cruise operating expense   $ 445,910    $ 445,756    $ 362,689  
Marketing, general and administrative expense    83,389     83,026     85,206  

      

Gross Cruise Cost    529,299     528,782     447,895  
Less:       
Commissions, transportation and other expense    116,810     117,034     94,579  
Onboard and other expense    47,924     47,988     42,371  

      

Net Cruise Cost    364,565     363,760     310,945  
Less: Fuel expense    79,040     79,040     72,498  

      

Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel    285,525     284,720     238,447  
Less: Other (1)    4,551     4,551     18,527  

      

Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel   $ 280,974    $ 280,169    $ 219,920  
      

Capacity Days    2,895,984     2,895,984     2,351,299  
Gross Cruise Cost per Capacity Day   $ 182.77    $ 182.59    $ 190.49  
Net Cruise Cost per Capacity Day   $ 125.89    $ 125.61    $ 132.24  
Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel per Capacity Day   $ 98.59    $ 98.32    $ 101.41  
Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel per Capacity Day   $ 97.02    $ 96.74    $ 93.53  

 
(1) Consists of expenses incurred from the Secondary Offering and non-cash compensation, of which 2013 includes $18.5 million of non-cash share-based compensation

related to the IPO.
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Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS were calculated as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Net income (loss) attributable to Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.   $ 51,267   $ (96,395) 
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest    425   (1,105)

  

Net income (loss)    51,692    (97,500) 
Non-cash compensation (1)    2,674   18,527 
Expenses related to debt prepayments (2)    —     90,505  
Other (3)    (4,808)   1,376  

  

Adjusted Net Income   $ 49,558   $ 12,908  
  

Diluted weighted–average shares outstanding – Net income (loss)    211,013,814    198,350,433(4) 
  

Diluted weighted–average shares outstanding – Adjusted Net Income    211,013,814    204,524,565  
  

Diluted earnings (loss) per share   $ 0.24   $ (0.49) 
  

Adjusted EPS   $ 0.23   $ 0.06  
  

 
(1) 2013 includes non-cash share-based compensation related to the IPO.
(2) Consists of premiums, write-offs of deferred fees and other expenses related to prepayments of debt.
(3) 2014 includes a tax benefit of $6.7 million from a change in estimate of tax provision associated with a change in our corporate entity structure and expenses related to the

Secondary Offering. 2013 includes tax expense related to the IPO and debt prepayments.
(4) Due to a net loss, excludes 6,174,132 shares, as including these would be antidilutive.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA was calculated as follows (in thousands):
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2014   2013  
Net income (loss) attributable to Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.   $ 51,267   $ (96,395) 
Interest expense, net    31,172    127,656  
Income tax (benefit) expense    (9,387)   2,196  
Depreciation and amortization expense    61,640    48,748  

  

EBITDA    134,692    82,205  
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest    425    (1,105) 
Other income    (388)   (1,364) 
Other (1)    4,551    20,024  

  

Adjusted EBITDA   $139,280   $ 99,760  
  

 
(1) Consists of expenses incurred from the Secondary Offering and non-cash compensation, of which 2013 includes $18.5 million of non-cash share-based compensation

related to the IPO.

Three months ended March 31, 2014 (“2014”) compared to three months ended March 31, 2013 (“2013”)

Revenue

Total revenue increased 25.9% to $664.0 million in 2014 compared to $527.6 million in 2013. Net Revenue in 2014 increased 27.8% to $499.3 million from $390.7 million in
2013 due to an increase in Capacity Days of 23.2% and Net Yield of 3.8%.The increase in Capacity Days was primarily due to the delivery of Norwegian Breakaway in April
2013 and Norwegian Getaway in January 2014. The increase in Net Yield was due to an increase in passenger ticket pricing and higher onboard and other revenue, partially due
to the introduction of Norwegian Breakaway and Norwegian Getaway to the fleet. On a Constant Currency basis, Net Yield increased 3.9% in 2014 compared to 2013.
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Expense

Total cruise operating expense increased 22.9% in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily due to the increase in Capacity Days as discussed above. Total other operating expense
increased 8.3% in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily due to an increase in depreciation and amortization expense related to the addition of Norwegian Breakaway and Norwegian
Getaway partially offset by a decrease in general and administrative expenses as 2013 included non-cash, share-based compensation expenses recognized upon the realization of
the IPO. On a Capacity Day basis, Net Cruise Cost decreased 4.8% (5.0% on a Constant Currency basis) due to a decrease in general and administrative expenses as discussed
above and fuel expense, partially offset by certain inaugural and launch-related costs for Norwegian Getaway along with expenses related to the scheduled Dry-dock of
Norwegian Spirit. The decrease in fuel expense was primarily the result of a 4.5% decrease in the average fuel price to $643 per metric ton in 2014 from $673 per metric ton in
2013. Adjusted Net Cruise Cost Excluding Fuel per Capacity Day increased 3.7% (3.4% on a Constant Currency basis) primarily due to the increase in expenses discussed
above.

Interest expense, net decreased to $31.2 million in 2014 from $127.7 million in 2013 primarily due to lower interest rates resulting from the benefits from the redemption of
higher rate debt and refinancing transactions partially offset by an increase in average debt outstanding. In addition, 2013 included $90.5 million of expenses associated with
debt prepayments.

In 2014 we had an income tax benefit of $9.4 million compared to an expense of $2.2 million in the prior year. The income tax benefit in 2014 primarily related to a change in
our corporate entity structure which was completed in 2013. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the tax provision reflected an interest expense deduction based on a method
supported by the information available at such time. During the first quarter of 2014, we received additional information which allowed us to elect another acceptable tax
method, resulting in a tax benefit of $11.1 million which includes a $6.7 million non-recurring benefit which has been excluded from Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS
for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

As of March 31, 2014, our liquidity was $569.8 million consisting of $64.8 million in cash and cash equivalents and $505.0 million available under our Revolving Loan
Facility. Our primary ongoing liquidity requirements are to finance working capital, capital expenditures and debt service.

As of March 31, 2014, we had a working capital deficit of $1,069.7 million. This deficit included $531.9 million of advance ticket sales, which represents the passenger ticket
revenue we collect in advance of sailing dates; and accordingly, are substantially more like deferred revenue balances rather than actual current cash liabilities. Our business
model, along with our Revolving Loan Facility, allows us to operate with a working capital deficit and still meet our operating, investing and financing needs.

Sources and Uses of Cash

In this section, references to “2014” refer to the three months ended March 31, 2014 and references to “2013” refer to the three months ended March 31, 2013.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $228.1 million in 2014 as compared to $82.1 million in 2013. The change in net cash provided by operating activities reflects net
income in 2014 of $51.7 million compared to a net loss in 2013 of $97.5 million. The net cash provided by operating activities and net loss in 2013 included fees of $76.5
million related to prepayment of debt, as well as timing differences in cash receipts and payments relating to operating assets and liabilities.

Net cash used in investing activities was $746.3 million in 2014, primarily related to payments for delivery of Norwegian Getaway, as well as other ship improvements and
shoreside projects. Net cash used in investing activities was $85.2 million in 2013, primarily related to the payments for construction of Norwegian Breakaway and Norwegian
Getaway and other ship improvements and shoreside projects.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $526.5 million in 2014, primarily due to proceeds from the Breakaway Two Credit Facility. Net cash provided by financing
activities was $38.8 million in 2013, primarily due to proceeds from the issuance of our $300.0 million 5% senior notes due 2018 as well as borrowings under other credit
facilities. Also included are the proceeds from the issuance of ordinary shares partially offset by repayments of our $450.0 million 11.75% senior secured notes due 2016 and
revolving credit facilities. Additionally, we made a payment related to the Norwegian Sky purchase agreement.
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Future Capital Commitments

Future capital commitments consist of contracted commitments, including future expected capital expenditures for business enhancements and ship construction contracts. As of
March 31, 2014 anticipated capital expenditures together with amounts for ship construction and related export credit financing were as follows (in thousands, based on the
euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of March 31, 2014):
 

   
Remaining
Quarters   Full Year  

   2014   2014   2015   2016  
Ship construction   $ 86,788   $ 802,722   $ 979,641   $117,361  
Ship financing    (46,156)   (706,586)   (775,097)   (46,156) 

  

Ship construction net of financing   $ 40,632   $ 96,136   $ 204,544   $ 71,205  
  

Business Enhancement Capital Expenditures including ROI Capital Expenditures (1)(2)(3)   $ 73,000   $ 98,000   $ 83,000   $ 90,000  
  

Incremental ROI Capital Expenditures for exhaust gas scrubbers   $ 27,000   $ 27,000   $ 27,000   $ 10,000  
  

 
(1) Remaining Quarters and Full Year 2014 includes $37 million and $43 million in ROI Capital Expenditures, respectively.
(2) Remaining Quarters and Full Year 2014, 2015 and 2016 exclude amounts for exhaust gas scrubbers.
(3) Remaining Quarters and Full Year 2014 and 2015 include investment for development of our future cruise destination in Belize.

We have two ships on order with Meyer Werft for delivery in the fourth quarter of 2015 and the first quarter of 2017. These ships, Norwegian Escape and Norwegian Bliss, will
be the largest in our fleet at approximately 163,000 Gross Tons with 4,200 Berths each and will be similar in design and innovation to our Breakaway Class Ships. The
combined contract cost of these two additional ships is approximately €1.4 billion, or $1.9 billion based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of March 31, 2014. We have
export credit financing in place that provides financing for 80% of their contract prices.

In connection with the contracts to build these ships, we do not anticipate any contractual breaches or cancellation to occur. However, if any would occur, it could result in,
among other things, the forfeiture of prior deposits or payments made by us, subject to certain refund guarantees, and potential claims and impairment losses which may
materially impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Capitalized interest for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was $5.1 million and $7.5 million, respectively, associated with the construction of Norwegian
Breakaway and Norwegian Getaway.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

None.

Contractual Obligations

As of March 31, 2014, our contractual obligations, with initial or remaining terms in excess of one year, including interest payments on long-term debt obligations, were as
follows (in thousands):
 

   Total    
Less than

1 year    1-3 years    3-5 years    
More than

5 years  
Long-term debt (1)   $3,654,190    $363,697    $ 792,338    $1,372,104    $1,126,051  
Due to Affiliate (2)    92,052     36,783     55,269     —      —   
Operating leases (3)    42,901     6,998     12,721     12,172     11,010  
Ship construction contracts (4)    1,876,035     115,390     1,760,645     —      —   
Port facilities (5)    265,251     29,522     66,944     59,675     109,110  
Interest (6)    513,890     98,489     176,877     118,007     120,517  
Other (7)    52,707     27,286     20,749     3,260     1,412  

          

Total   $6,497,026    $678,165    $2,885,543    $1,565,218    $1,368,100  
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(1) Net of unamortized original issue discount of $1.3 million. Also includes capital leases.
(2) Primarily related to the purchase of Norwegian Sky.
(3) Primarily for offices, motor vehicles and office equipment.
(4) For Norwegian Escape and Norwegian Bliss based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate as of March 31, 2014. Export credit financing is in place from a syndicate of

banks.
(5) Primarily for our usage of certain port facilities.
(6) Includes fixed and variable rates with LIBOR held constant as of March 31, 2014.
(7) Future commitments for service and maintenance contracts.

Other

Certain of our service providers may require collateral in the normal course of our business. The amount of collateral may change based on certain terms and conditions.

As a routine part of our business, depending on market conditions, exchange rates, pricing and our strategy for growth, we regularly consider opportunities to enter into contracts
for the building of additional ships. We may also consider the sale of ships, potential acquisitions and strategic alliances. If any of these were to occur, they may be financed
through the incurrence of additional permitted indebtedness, through cash flows from operations, or through the issuance of debt, equity or equity-related securities.

Funding Sources

Our debt agreements contain covenants that, among other things, require us to maintain a minimum level of liquidity, as well as limit our net funded debt-to-capital ratio,
maintain certain other ratios and restrict our ability to pay dividends. Our ships and substantially all other property and equipment are pledged as collateral for our debt. We
believe we were in compliance with these covenants as of March 31, 2014.

We believe our cash on hand, expected future operating cash inflows, additional available borrowings under our existing credit facility and our ability to issue debt securities or
raise additional equity, will be sufficient to fund operations, debt payment requirements, capital expenditures and maintain compliance with covenants under our debt
agreements over the next twelve-month period. There is no assurance that cash flows from operations and additional financings will be available in the future to fund our future
obligations.

 Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

General

We are exposed to market risk attributable to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and fuel prices. We attempt to minimize these risks through a
combination of our normal operating and financing activities and through the use of derivatives. The financial impacts of these derivative instruments are primarily offset by
corresponding changes in the underlying exposures being hedged. We achieve this by closely matching the amount, term and conditions of the derivatives with the underlying
risk being hedged. We do not hold or issue derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes. Derivative positions are monitored using techniques including market
valuations and sensitivity analyses.

Interest Rate Risk

From time to time, we consider entering into interest rate swap agreements to modify our exposure to interest rate movements and to manage our interest expense. As of
March 31, 2014, 31% of our debt was fixed and 69% was variable which includes the effects of the interest rate swap. The notional amount of outstanding debt associated with
the interest rate swap agreements as of March 31, 2014 was $699.4 million. Based on our March 31, 2014 outstanding variable rate debt balance, a one percentage point
increase in annual LIBOR interest rates would increase our annual interest expense by approximately $18.3 million excluding the effects of capitalization of interest.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We use foreign currency derivatives to hedge the exposure to volatility in foreign currency exchange rates related to our ship construction contracts denominated in euros. These
derivatives hedge the foreign currency exchange rate risk on a portion of the final payments on our ship construction contracts. As of March 31, 2014 we did not have any
foreign currency derivatives.
 

23



Table of Contents

Fuel Price Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in fuel prices relates to the forecasted purchases of fuel on our ships. Fuel expense, as a percentage of our total cruise operating expense,
was 17.7% and 20.0% for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. From time to time, we use fuel derivative agreements to mitigate the financial impact
of fluctuations in fuel prices. As of March 31, 2014, we had hedged approximately 66%, 53% and 26% of our remaining 2014, 2015 and 2016 projected metric tons of fuel
purchases, respectively. We estimate that a 10% increase in our weighted-average fuel price would increase our anticipated 2014 fuel expense by $22.6 million. This increase
would be partially offset by an increase in the fair value of our fuel swap agreements and fuel collars and options of $13.5 million. Fair value of our derivative contracts is
derived using valuation models that utilize the income valuation approach. These valuation models take into account the contract terms such as maturity, as well as other inputs
such as fuel types, fuel curves, creditworthiness of the counterparty and the Company, as well as other data points.

 Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management has evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as
of March 31, 2014. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human error and the
circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving
their control objectives. Based upon our management’s evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of March 31, 2014 to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, and that it is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

It should be noted that any system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system
will be met. In addition, the design of any control system is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events. Because of these and other inherent
limitations of control systems, there is only the reasonable assurance that our controls will succeed in achieving their goals under all potential future conditions.
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 PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

 Item 1. Legal Proceedings

In July 2009, a class action complaint was filed against NCL (Bahamas) Ltd. in the United States District Court, Southern District of Florida, on behalf of a purported class of
crew members alleging inappropriate deductions of their wages pursuant to the Seaman’s Wage Act and wrongful termination resulting in a loss of retirement benefits. In
December 2010, the Court denied the plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification. In February 2011, the plaintiffs filed a Motion for Reconsideration as to the Court’s Order on
Class Certification which was denied. The Court tried six individual plaintiffs’ claims, and in September 2012 awarded wages aggregating approximately $100,000 to such
plaintiffs. In October 2013, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the Court’s rulings as to the denial of Class Certification and the trial verdict.
The Plaintiffs filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court seeking review of the appellate court’s decision which was denied in March 2014. We
are vigorously defending this action and are not able at this time to estimate the impact of these proceedings.

In May 2011, a class action complaint was filed against NCL (Bahamas) Ltd. in the United States District Court, Southern District of Florida, on behalf of a purported class of
crew members alleging inappropriate deductions of their wages pursuant to the Seaman’s Wage Act and breach of contract. In July 2012, this action was stayed by the Court
pending the outcome of the litigation commenced with the class action complaint filed in July 2009. We are vigorously defending this action and are not able at this time to
estimate the impact of these proceedings.

In the normal course of our business, various other claims and lawsuits have been filed or are pending against us. Most of these claims and lawsuits are covered by insurance
and, accordingly, the maximum amount of our liability is typically limited to our deductible amount. Nonetheless, the ultimate outcome of these claims and lawsuits that are not
covered by insurance cannot be determined at this time. We have evaluated our overall exposure with respect to all of our threatened and pending litigation and, to the extent
required, we have accrued amounts for all estimable probable losses associated with our deemed exposure. We are currently unable to estimate any other reasonably possible
contingent losses beyond those accrued, as discovery is not complete nor is adequate information available to estimate such range of loss or potential recovery. We intend to
vigorously defend our legal position on all claims and, to the extent necessary, seek recovery.

 Item 1A. Risk Factors

We refer you to our 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the risk factors that affect our business and financial results. There have been no material changes to
those risk factors. We wish to caution the reader that the risk factors discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K, and those described
elsewhere in this report or other Securities and Exchange Commission filings, could cause future results to differ materially from those stated in any forward-looking statements.

Item  5. Other Information

None.

 Item 6. Exhibits
 
10.1

 
Second Supplemental Deed, dated April 24, 2008, to €662.9 million Norwegian Epic Loan, dated as of September 22, 2006, as amended by and among F3 Two,
Ltd., NCL Corporation Ltd. and a syndicate of international banks

10.2
 

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated United States Tax Agreement for NCL Corporation Ltd. (including Annex A-Form Exchange Agreement for NCL
Corporation Ltd.), dated April 9, 2014

31.1*  Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

31.2*  Certification of the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

32.1**
 

Certifications of the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code

101**
 

The following unaudited financial statements from Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014,
formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL), as follows:

 

 (i) the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013;
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 (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013;
 

 (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013;
 

 (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013;
 

 (v) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2014; and
 

 (vi) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged in summary and detail.
 

* Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
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 SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.
 

NORWEGIAN CRUISE LINE HOLDINGS LTD.
(Registrant)

By:  /s/ KEVIN M. SHEEHAN
Name:  Kevin M. Sheehan
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

By:  /s/ WENDY A. BECK
Name:  Wendy A. Beck
Title:  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: May 1, 2014
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Exhibit 10.1

DATED 24 APRIL 2008

F3 TWO, LTD.
(as borrower)

NCL CORPORATION LTD.
(as guarantor)

THE SEVERAL BANKS
(particulars of which are set out in Schedule 1)

(as lenders)

BNP PARIBAS
(as agent)

 

   

SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL DEED TO (AMONG OTHER THINGS)
LOAN AGREEMENT

dated 22 September 2006
for the amount of up to EUR662,905,320

post delivery finance for
a passenger cruise vessel having hull no. D33 at the yard of Aker Yards S.A.

  

STEPHENSON HARWOOD
One St Paul’s Churchyard

London EC4M 8SH
Tel: +44 (0)20 7329 4422
Fax: +44 (0)20 7329 7100

Ref: 1253/45-01178/45-01079/46-01271
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SECOND SUPPLEMENTAL DEED

DATED 24 APRIL 2008

BETWEEN:
 
(1) F3 TWO, LTD., a company incorporated in and existing under the laws of Bermuda with registration number EC38768 and with its registered office at Milner House, 18

Parliament Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda as borrower (the “Borrower”);
 
(2) NCL CORPORATION LTD. of Milner House, 18 Parliament Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda as guarantor (the “Guarantor”);
 
(3) THE SEVERAL BANKS particulars of which are set out in Schedule 1 as lenders (collectively the “Lenders” and each individually a “Lender”); and
 
(4) BNP PARIBAS as agent for the lenders (the “Agent”).

WHEREAS:
 
(A) By a loan agreement dated 22 September 2006 as amended and restated by a first supplemental deed thereto dated 21 December 2007 entered into between (among

others) the Borrower as borrower, the Lenders as lenders and the Agent as agent for (among others) the Lenders (the “Original Loan Agreement”), the Lenders granted
to the Borrower a secured loan in the maximum amount of six hundred and sixty two million nine hundred and five thousand three hundred and twenty euro
(EUR662,905,320) (the “Loan”) for the purpose of enabling the Borrower to finance (among other things) the construction of the Vessel (as such term is defined in the
Original Loan Agreement) on the terms and conditions therein contained. The repayment of the Loan by the Borrower has been secured by a guarantee and indemnity
dated 6 October 2006 as amended and restated by a first supplemental deed thereto dated 21 December 2007 granted by the Guarantor.

 
(B) The Borrower and the Guarantor have requested the consent of the Lenders and Coface to the postponement of the Intended Delivery Date.
 
(C) The consent of the Lenders and the Agent is given in respect of the above matter on the terms of this Deed which shall be executed as a deed.

NOW THIS DEED WITNESSES as follows:
 
1 Definitions and Construction
 

 
1.1 In this Deed including the preamble and recitals hereto (unless the context otherwise requires) any term or expression defined in the preamble or the recitals

shall have the meaning ascribed to it therein and terms and expressions not defined herein but whose meanings are defined in the Loan Agreement shall have the
meanings set out therein. In addition, the following terms and expressions shall have the meanings set out below:

 
     “Effective Date” means the date on which the conditions precedent set out in Clause 3.1 are fulfilled to the satisfaction of the Agent; and
 
     “Loan Agreement” means the Original Loan Agreement as amended by this Deed.



 1.2 The provisions of Clause 1.2 of the Loan Agreement shall apply hereto (mutatis mutandis).
 
2 Amendment of Original Loan Agreement and Other Security Documents
 
 2.1 Subject to Clause 3.1, the parties hereto agree that from the Effective Date the Original Loan Agreement shall be read and construed as if:
 
 2.1.1 the calendar date at the end of the definition of “Availability Termination Date” in clause 1.1 of the Original Loan Agreement had been replaced with

the calendar date 15 October 2010;
 
 2.1.2 the calendar date at the beginning of the definition of “Intended Delivery Date” in clause 1.1 of the Original Loan Agreement had been replaced with

the calendar date 15 October 2010;
 
 2.1.3 the following definition had been inserted in the relevant place, alphabetically, in clause 1.1 of the Original Loan Agreement:
 
     ““Permitted Indebtedness” means monies borrowed or raised for the purpose of acquiring a vessel, or refinancing a vessel, for a member of the

NCLC Group, other than from any direct or indirect shareholder of the Guarantor:
 
 (a) prior to the date of this Agreement and notified by the Borrower to the Agent prior to the date of this Agreement;
 
 (b) hereunder;
 

 
(c) after the date of this Agreement, subject to the provisions of this Agreement, at arm’s length on usual terms and subject to the Guarantor first

notifying the Agent with full details of the amount(s) to be borrowed or raised and the Encumbrances to be created to secure the repayment
of such monies; and

 
 (d) Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness.”;
 
 2.1.4 the following definition had been inserted in the relevant place, alphabetically, in clause 1.1 of the Original Loan Agreement:
 
     ““Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness” means any monies borrowed or raised at arm’s length on usual terms and other than from any direct or

indirect shareholder of the Guarantor which are used to refinance any Permitted Indebtedness including any Permitted Refinancing Indebtedness.”;
 
 2.1.5 the words “or that the parties to any Apollo-Related Transaction that has not been completed by the date referred to above have agreed not to

implement that Apollo-Related Transaction” had been inserted at the end of clause 3.1.3(b) of the Original Loan Agreement;
 
 2.1.6 the words “or Encumbrances created in respect of Permitted Indebtedness” had been inserted at the end of clause 9.3.2 of the Original Loan

Agreement; and
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 2.1.7 clause 10.5 (Negative pledge) of the Original Loan Agreement had been replaced with the following:
 
 “10.5 Negative pledge
 
     The Borrower will not create or permit to subsist any Encumbrance on the whole or any part of its present or future assets, except for the

following:
 
 10.5.1 Encumbrances created with the prior written consent of the Lenders; or
 
 10.5.2 Permitted Liens,

PROVIDED THAT an Encumbrance constituting a Permitted Lien under any of paragraphs (c), (f) or (i) of the definition of “Permitted
Liens” in Clause 1.1 may not be created over any asset which is subject to an Encumbrance constituted by a Security Document relating to
this Agreement save with the prior written consent of the Agent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and (if appropriate
having regard to the nature of the Encumbrance) following the entry by the beneficiary of the Encumbrance into intercreditor arrangements
acceptable to the Agent.”.

 
 2.2 Each of the Borrower and the Guarantor hereby confirms to the Lenders and the Agent that with effect from the Effective Date:
 

 
2.2.1 all references to the Original Loan Agreement in the other Security Documents to which it is a party shall be construed as references to the Loan

Agreement and all terms used in such Security Documents whose meanings are defined by reference to the Original Loan Agreement shall be defined
by reference to the Loan Agreement;

 
 2.2.2 the Security Documents to which it is a party shall apply to, and extend to secure, the whole of the Outstanding Indebtedness as defined in clause 1.1

of the Loan Agreement;
 
 2.2.3 its obligations under the Security Documents to which it is a party shall not be discharged, impaired or otherwise affected by reason of the execution

of this Deed or of any of the documents or transactions contemplated hereby; and
 
 2.2.4 its obligations under the Security Documents to which it is a party shall remain in full force and effect as security for the obligations of the Borrower

under the Loan Agreement and the other Security Documents as amended by this Deed.
 
 2.3 Except as expressly amended hereby or pursuant hereto the Original Loan Agreement and the other Security Documents shall remain in full force and effect and

nothing herein contained shall relieve the Borrower, the Guarantor or any other Obligor from any of its respective obligations under any such documents.
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3 Conditions Precedent
 
 3.1 The amendment of the Original Loan Agreement provided for in Clause 2 is conditional upon and shall not be effective unless and until the Agent has received

the following in form and substance satisfactory to the Lenders:
 
 3.1.1 on the date of this Deed:
 
 (a) one (1) counterpart of this Deed duly executed by the Borrower and the Guarantor;
 
 (b) a written confirmation from the Process Agent that it will act for the Borrower and the Guarantor as agent for service of process in England in

respect of this Deed;
 
 3.1.2 a Certified Copy of a signed addendum to the Building Contract pursuant to which the Borrower and the Builder agree to amend the Intended Delivery

Date to 15 October 2010;
 
 3.1.3 Coface’s acceptance in writing of the amendment of the Intended Delivery Date to 15 October 2010;
 
 3.1.4 the following corporate documents in respect of each of the Borrower and the Guarantor (together the “Relevant Parties”):
 
 (a) Certified Copies of any consents required from any ministry, governmental, financial or other authority for the execution of and performance

by the respective Relevant Party of its obligations under this Deed;
 
 (b) a notarially attested secretary’s certificate of each of the Relevant Parties:
 
 (i) attaching a copy of its Certificate of Incorporation and Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws (or equivalent

constitutional documents) evidencing power to enter into the transactions contemplated in this Deed;
 
 (ii) giving the names of its present officers and directors;
 
 (iii) setting out specimen signatures of such persons as are authorised by the Relevant Party to sign documents or otherwise

undertake the performance of that Relevant Party’s obligations under this Deed;
 
 (iv) giving the legal owner of its shares and the number of such shares held;
 

 
(v) attaching copies of resolutions passed at duly convened meetings of the directors and, if required by the Agent, the

shareholders of each of the Relevant Parties authorising (as applicable) the execution of this Deed and the issue of any
power of attorney to execute the same; and
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 (vi) containing a declaration of solvency as at the date of the certificate of the duly appointed officer of the Relevant Party;
 

 

    or (if applicable) certifying that there has been no change to the statements made in his or her secretary’s certificate last provided to the
Agent with respect to paragraphs (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (vi) of this Clause 3.1.4(b) and attaching copies of resolutions passed at duly
convened meetings of the directors and, if required by the Agent, the shareholders of each of the Relevant Parties authorising (as applicable)
the execution of this Deed and the issue of any power of attorney to execute the same; and

 
 (c) the original powers of attorney, if any, issued pursuant to the resolutions referred to above and notarially attested; and
 
 3.1.5 the issue of such favourable written legal opinions including in respect of Bermuda and the Isle of Man in such form as the Agent may require relating

to all aspects of the transactions contemplated hereby governed by any applicable law,
 
     PROVIDED THAT no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing on the Effective Date (subject to Clause 3.2).
 

 

3.2 If the Lenders and the Agent, acting unanimously, decide to permit the amendment of the Original Loan Agreement hereby without the Agent having received
all of the documents or evidence referred to in Clause 3.1, the Borrower will nevertheless deliver the remaining documents or evidence to the Agent within
fourteen (14) days of the Effective Date (or such other period as the Agent may stipulate) and the amendment of the Original Loan Agreement as aforesaid shall
not be construed as a waiver of the Agent’s right to receive the documents or evidence as aforesaid nor shall this provision impose on the Agent or the Lenders
any obligation to permit the amendment in the absence of such documents or evidence.

 
4 Representations and Warranties
 
 4.1 Each of the Borrower and the Guarantor represents and warrants to the Lenders and the Agent that:
 
 4.1.1 it has the power to enter into and perform this Deed and the transactions contemplated hereby and has taken all necessary action to authorise the entry

into and performance of this Deed and such transactions;
 
 4.1.2 this Deed constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligations enforceable in accordance with its terms;
 
 4.1.3 its entry into and performance of this Deed and the transactions and documents contemplated hereby do not and will not conflict with:
 
 (a) any law or regulation or any official or judicial order; or
 
 (b) its constitutional documents; or
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 (c) any agreement or document to which it is a party or which is binding upon it or any of its assets,
 

 
    nor result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance on it or its assets pursuant to the provisions of any such agreement or document and in

particular but without prejudice to the foregoing the entry into and performance of this Deed and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby
will not render invalid, void or voidable any security granted by it to the Lenders or the Agent;

 

 
4.1.4 all authorisations, approvals, consents, licences, exemptions, filings, registrations, notarisations and other matters, official or otherwise, required in

connection with the entry into, performance, validity and enforceability of this Deed and each of the other documents contemplated hereby and
thereby and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been obtained or effected and are in full force and effect;

 

 
4.1.5 all information furnished by it to the Agent or its agents relating to the business and affairs of an Obligor in connection with this Deed and the other

documents contemplated hereby and thereby was and remains true and correct in all material respects and there are no other material facts or
considerations the omission of which would render any such information misleading; and

 
 4.1.6 it has fully disclosed in writing to the Agent all facts relating to its business which it knows or should reasonably know and which might reasonably

be expected to influence the Lenders and/or the Agent in deciding whether or not to enter into this Deed.
 
5 Expenses
 
  The Borrower and the Guarantor jointly and severally undertake to reimburse the Agent and the Lenders on demand of the Agent on a full indemnity basis for the

reasonable charges and expenses (together with value added tax or any similar tax thereon and including without limitation the fees and expenses of legal and other
advisers) incurred by the Agent and/or the Lenders in respect of the negotiation, preparation, printing, execution, registration and enforcement of this Deed and any other
documents required in connection with the implementation of this Deed.

 
6 Further Assurance
 
  Each of the Borrower and the Guarantor will, from time to time on being required to do so by the Agent, do or procure the doing of all such acts and/or execute or procure

the execution of all such documents in a form satisfactory to the Agent as the Agent may reasonably consider necessary for giving full effect to this Deed or any of the
documents contemplated hereby or securing to the Agent and/or the Lenders the full benefit of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon the Agent and/or the
Lenders in any such document.

 
7 Counterparts
 
  This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and all such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.
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8 Notices
 

 

8.1 Any notice, demand or other communication (unless made by telefax) to be made or delivered to the Borrower and/or the Guarantor pursuant to this Deed shall
(unless the Borrower or the Guarantor has by fifteen (15) days’ written notice to the Agent specified another address) be made or delivered to the Borrower
and/or the Guarantor c/o/at 7665 Corporate Center Drive, Miami, Florida 33126, United States of America (marked for the attention of the Chief Financial
Officer and the Legal Department) (but one (1) copy shall suffice) with a copy to the Investors c/o Apollo Management, LP, 9 West 57th Street, 43rd Floor,
New York, NY 10019, United States of America (marked for the attention of Mr Steven Martinez). Any notice, demand or other communication to be made or
delivered by the Borrower or the Guarantor pursuant to this Deed shall (unless the Agent has by fifteen (15) days’ written notice to the Borrower and the
Guarantor specified another address) be made or delivered to the Agent at its office, the details of which are set out in clause 27 of the Original Loan
Agreement.

 

 

8.2 Any notice, demand or other communication to be made or delivered pursuant to this Deed may be sent by telefax to the relevant telephone numbers (which at
the date hereof in respect of the Borrower and the Guarantor is +1 305 436 4140 (marked for the attention of the Chief Financial Officer) and +1 305 436 4117
(marked for the attention of the Legal Department) with a copy to the Investors c/o Apollo Management, LP, fax number +1 212 515 3288 (marked for the
attention of Mr Steven Martinez) and in the case of the Agent is as recorded in clause 27 of the Original Loan Agreement) specified by it from time to time for
the purpose and shall be deemed to have been received when transmission of such telefax communication has been completed. Each such telefax
communication, if made to the Agent by the Borrower or the Guarantor, shall be signed by the person or persons authorised in writing by the Borrower or the
Guarantor (as the case may be) and whose signature appears on the list of specimen signatures contained in the secretary’s certificate required to be delivered by
Clause 3 and shall be expressed to be for the attention of the department or officer whose name has been notified for the time being for that purpose by the Agent
to the Borrower and the Guarantor.

 
 8.3 Subject to Clause 8.2, the provisions of clause 27 of the Original Loan Agreement shall apply to this Deed.
 
9 Governing Law
 
    This Deed shall be governed by English law.
 
10 Jurisdiction
 

 
10.1 The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Deed (including a dispute regarding the

existence, validity or termination of this Agreement) (a “Dispute”). Each party to this Deed agrees that the courts of England are the most appropriate and
convenient courts to settle Disputes and accordingly no party will argue to the contrary.

 
     This Clause 10.1 is for the benefit of the Lenders and the Agent only. As a result, no such party shall be prevented from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute

in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, any such party may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.
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10.2 Neither the Borrower nor the Guarantor may, without the Agent’s prior written consent, terminate the appointment of the Process Agent; if the Process Agent
resigns or its appointment ceases to be effective, the Borrower and/or the Guarantor (as the case may be) shall within fourteen (14) days appoint a company
which has premises in London and has been approved by the Agent to act as the Borrower’s and/or the Guarantor’s (as the case may be) process agent with
unconditional authority to receive and acknowledge service on behalf of the Borrower and/or the Guarantor of all process or other documents connected with
proceedings in the English courts which relate to this Deed.

 

 
10.3 For the purpose of securing its obligations under Clause 10.2, each of the Borrower and the Guarantor irrevocably agrees that, if it for any reason fails to appoint

a process agent within the period specified in Clause 10.2, the Agent may appoint any person (including a company controlled by or associated with the Agent or
any Lender) to act as the Borrower’s or the Guarantor’s (as the case may be) process agent in England with the unconditional authority described in Clause 10.2.

 

 
10.4 No neglect or default by a process agent appointed or designated under this Clause (including a failure by it to notify the Borrower or the Guarantor (as the case

may be) of the service of any process or to forward any process to the Borrower or the Guarantor (as the case may be)) shall invalidate any proceedings or
judgment.

 
 10.5 Each of the Borrower and the Guarantor appoints in the case of the courts of England the Process Agent to receive, for and on its behalf service of process in

England of any legal proceedings with respect to this Deed.
 
 10.6 A judgment relating to this Deed which is given or would be enforced by an English court shall be conclusive and binding on the Borrower and/or the Guarantor

(as the case may be) and may be enforced without review in any other jurisdiction.
 

 
10.7 Nothing in this Clause shall exclude or limit any right which the Agent or the Lenders may have (whether under the laws of any country, an international

convention or otherwise) with regard to the bringing of proceedings, the service of process, the recognition or enforcement of a judgment or any similar or
related matter in any jurisdiction.

 
 10.8 In this Clause “judgment” includes order, injunction, declaration and any other decision or relief made or granted by a court.
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IN WITNESS whereof the parties hereto have caused this Deed to be duly executed as a deed on the day and year first before written.

 
SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED as a DEED    )    
by Paul A. Turner    )    /s/ Paul A. Turner
for and on behalf of    )    as agent
F3 TWO, LTD.    )    
in the presence of:    )    

Angelique Round
Trainee Solicitor
One, St Paul’s Churchyard
London, EC4M 85H

 
SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED as a DEED    )    
by Paul A. Turner    )    /s/ Paul A. Turner
for and on behalf of    )    as agent
NCL CORPORATION LTD.    )    
in the presence of:    )    

Angelique Round
Trainee Solicitor
One, St Paul’s Churchyard
London, EC4M 85H

 
SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED as a DEED    )    
by Julie Clegg    )    
for and on behalf of    )    
BNP PARIBAS    )    
as a Lender and the Agent    )    /s/ Julie Clegg
in the presence of:    )    Attorney-in-fact

Angelique Round
Trainee Solicitor
One, St Paul’s Churchyard
London, EC4M 85H

 
SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED as a DEED    )    
by Julie Clegg    )    
for and on behalf of    )    
CALYON    )    /s/ Julie Clegg
in the presence of:    )    Attorney-in-fact

Angelique Round
Trainee Solicitor
One, St Paul’s Churchyard
London, EC4M 85H
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SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED as a DEED    )    
by Julie Clegg    )    
for and on behalf of    )    
HSBC FRANCE    )    /s/ Julie Clegg
in the presence of:    )    Attorney-in-fact

Angelique Round
Trainee Solicitor
One, St Paul’s Churchyard
London, EC4M 85H

 
SIGNED SEALED and DELIVERED as a DEED    )    
by Julie Clegg    )    
for and on behalf of    )    
SOCIETE GENERALE    )    /s/ Julie Clegg
in the presence of:    )    Attorney-in-fact

Angelique Round
Trainee Solicitor
One, St Paul’s Churchyard
London, EC4M 85H
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Schedule 1

The Agent and the Lenders
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Exhibit 10.2

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE AMENDED AND RESTATED UNITED STATES TAX AGREEMENT

for

NCL CORPORATION LTD.

This First Amendment (this “Amendment”) to the AMENDED AND RESTATED UNITED STATES TAX AGREEMENT of NCL Corporation Ltd., a company organized
under the laws of Bermuda is made effective as of April 9, 2014, by Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd., a company organized under the laws of Bermuda and the Members,
as defined in the Agreement.

A. The Members and the Company entered into that certain AMENDED AND RESTATED UNITED STATES TAX AGREEMENT on January 24, 2013 (the
“Agreement”).

B. The Company and the Members desire to amend the Agreement as set forth in this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Agreement shall be amended as follows:

1. Tax Distributions. Section 3(b)(i) of the Agreement shall be amended by adding the following sentence to the end of such Section:

“Notwithstanding the forgoing, the Company shall not be required to make a Tax Distribution pursuant to this Section 3(b) to any Member who is not a current
director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its affiliates at the time such distribution is to be made, as determined in the sole discretion of the
Company.”

2. Miscellaneous. Except to the extent set for in this Amendment, the Agreement remains in full force and effect. If the provisions of this Amendment conflict with the
provisions of the Agreement, then the provisions of this Amendment shall prevail.

3. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and governed by, the laws of the State of Delaware.

4. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, including by facsimile transmission, with the effect as if all parties had signed the
same document. All counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one instrument.

*****
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has duly executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
 

NORWEGIAN CRUISE LINE HOLDINGS LTD.

By:  /s/ Kevin M. Sheehan

 
Name: Kevin M. Sheehan
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

 



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Kevin M. Sheehan, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 

 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

 
  /s/ Kevin M. Sheehan

Dated: May 1, 2014   Name:  Kevin M. Sheehan
  Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Wendy A. Beck, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 

 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

 
  /s/ Wendy A. Beck

Dated: May 1, 2014   Name:  Wendy A. Beck
  Title:  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of Kevin M. Sheehan, the President and Chief
Executive Officer, and Wendy A. Beck, the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, of Norwegian Cruise Line Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”), does hereby
certify, that, to such officer’s knowledge:

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company, for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 (the “Form 10-Q”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Dated: May 1, 2014
 

By:  /s/ Kevin M. Sheehan
Name:  Kevin M. Sheehan
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

By:  /s/ Wendy A. Beck
Name:  Wendy A. Beck
Title:  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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